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INTRODUCTION: NEW FOCUS FOR REGULATORS 
In recent years, the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act hasn’t been much of 

an issue for the mortgage industry. And based on past guidance from the Department 
of Housing and Urban Development, many lenders were comfortable participating in 
marketing services agreements or joint ventures with real estate firms and 
homebuilders. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau took over RESPA enforcement 
powers from HUD in 2011, as directed by the Dodd-Frank Act. By 2014, the CFPB 
had signaled a new focus on MSAs, including interpretations of RESPA that differed 
significantly from HUD’s. The CFPB questioned the legitimacy of mortgage MSAs 
and standard joint-venture arrangements, making RESPA one of the biggest 
regulatory threats on the immediate mortgage-lending horizon. 

This Guide to Marketing Services Agreements, RESPA and the CFPB covers the 
MSA landscape with insight and analysis from regulators and industry attorneys. 

The Guide includes details on typical MSAs and suggestions regarding the 
provisions to include in an MSA contract. The application of RESPA to MSAs is 
also covered in detail, with insight on guidance from federal regulators dating back 
to 1996. The CFPB’s enforcement of RESPA regarding MSAs is explored, including 
consent orders, enforcement actions and guidance from the federal regulator. 

A controversial action by the CFPB against PHH Mortgage and its captive 
mortgage insurance program is also covered. The lender filed the first appeal of a 
CFPB administrative proceeding after Richard Cordray, director of the CFPB, 
assessed a $109.2 million fine relating to MSAs that allegedly violated RESPA. 

Donald Lampe, Jeffrey Naimon and John Socknat provided analysis of the 
regulatory landscape for MSAs and RESPA during a webinar hosted by Inside 
Mortgage Finance Publications in October 2015. 

Lampe is a partner in the financial services group at the law firm of Morrison & 
Foerster. He has a long history of representing mortgage lenders in government 
investigation and enforcement actions on a variety of different issues, including 
RESPA. 

Naimon is a partner at the law firm of BuckleySandler. He has more than 20 
years of experience helping banks and other financial service providers with 
regulatory enforcement and litigation matters. 

Socknat is a practice leader in the mortgage banking group at the law firm of 
Ballard Spahr. He has a track record in helping mortgage and housing-related clients 
with regulatory compliance, and representing them in both state and federal 
enforcement actions. 
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DEFINITION OF AN MSA 
A marketing services agreements is basically an agreement for a party to provide 

marketing services for another party in exchange for compensation for those 
services. In the mortgage industry, MSAs have typically involved real estate brokers 
providing marketing services to title companies, home warranty companies, 
mortgage lenders and other firms. 

“The purpose behind MSAs is to permit providers of services and lenders to be 
able to access and provide their services to other customers that they may not 
otherwise have access to or be able to serve,” said Donald Lampe, a partner in the 
financial services group at the law firm Morrison & Foerster. “The business 
motivation is pretty clear: to expand market share, and to obtain new business 
through channels that are not otherwise available to them.” 

He said that the term “marketing services agreement” doesn’t appear to be 
defined in any law or regulation involving mortgages. 

However, MSAs have existed for long enough that it’s difficult for industry 
participants to determine when MSAs started. Lampe said MSAs are common in 
other businesses and industries besides mortgage lending. In other industries, he said 
market forces determine the scope and economics of the agreements. 

“This is one example where RESPA specifically regulates an industry that may 
not be regulated by other federal law if it engaged in the same conduct,” Lampe said. 

 

COMMON SERVICES PROVIDED 
Lampe said MSAs in the mortgage industry commonly involve real estate agents 

or others who furnish all or most of following marketing services for providers, 
which are typically title insurance companies or mortgage lenders: 

 Advertising, often joint advertising, of providers’ products and services; 

 Educating customers about the provider’s offerings; 

 Providing facilities for provider promotional and advertising materials, 
such as display racks and online access; 

 Providing promotional literature and other information to customers; 

 Arranging educational and promotional sessions within the marketing 
party’s business; 

 Arranging and attending open houses where providers attend and engage 
in promotional and educational activities; and 

 Subleasing or licensing facilities where providers engage in marketing 
and promotional activities and initiate customer contact. 

He said the services provided and business terms are typically detailed in a 
written MSA. 
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ELEMENTS OF WRITTEN MSAS 
Lampe stressed that written MSAs should clearly identify the parties involved in 

the agreement. “Sometimes it gets confusing whether the agreement is with an 
individual real estate agent, a group of individual real estate agents as a marketing 
party, or a real estate firm,” he said. 

Lampe said MSAs should include a description of the parties’ duties including 
the specific marketing services that will be completed, service levels and payment of 
compensation. “Under RESPA, it’s compensation for services actually rendered,” he 
said. “Typically you will see these set up on a monthly fee, for example.” 

The term of the agreement should be included in the MSA. Lampe said that 
ordinarily under RESPA, the longer, the better, within commercially reasonable 
norms, such as one year. “And termination would be at the end of the term or for 
cause, not a unilateral termination, anytime somebody wants out of the agreement,” 
he said. 

Lampe suggested that MSAs should be non-exclusive. “HUD believed that 
exclusivity was a sign of noncompliance with RESPA,” he said. 

MSAs should also include monitoring of the performance of the marketing-side 
party. 

Lampe said MSAs also typically include a provision with rights to adjust the 
scope of services and compensation, commensurate with circumstances. “But at no 
point should pricing be based on the volume of referrals,” he said. 

Joyce Wilkins Pollison, director of legal and regulatory compliance at Lenders 
Compliance Group, a consulting firm, said a fixed monthly fee is the only allowable 
method of compensation under an MSA. 

Lampe added that if the term of an MSA is one year and adjustments are made to 
the MSA in that term, the adjustments might draw attention from regulators. 

Phillip Schulman, a partner in the K&L Gates law firm, said MSAs should 
clearly state that the marketing agreement isn’t payment for a referral. “What you 
want to pay for is general advertising, advertising to the general public,” he said. 

One example would be a banner on a web page. “That’s advertising to the 
general public, such as anyone who goes on the [National Association of Realtors] 
webpage,” Schulman said. “That’s not telling an individual customer you ought to 
use ABC Mortgage.” 

Other examples include putting a sign up or installing a rack of brochures in a 
real estate agent’s office, or attaching a rider sign on a for-sale sign. 

“To me, marketing agreements are legal if they are payment for general 
advertising,” Schulman said. “And then do what the CFPB said: Get an independent 
third party to value them, and make sure that you verify that the real estate broker or 
the builder is doing that stuff on a monthly basis. If you want to do them, you can do 
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them properly. If you never drive a car, you’ll never get a speeding ticket, but that 
doesn’t make driving illegal, and the same can be true for MSAs.” 

 

RISKS FOR MSA PARTIES 
A common issue in MSAs is the imbalance of risk tolerance between providers 

and marketing parties. 

In general, Lampe said providers have lower risk tolerance than marketing 
parties. “Real estate agents generally aren’t as concerned with RESPA compliance as 
provider-side parties like lenders,” he said. 

Lampe said it doesn’t appear that any MSA-related enforcement actions have 
been brought directly against real estate brokers or agents, unless the broker or agent 
was part of a larger family of companies. He added that while the Consumer 
Financial Protection Bureau has increased regulatory oversight of MSAs, it’s 
doubtful that the CFPB will target real estate agents. 

“As a practical matter, provider-side parties have to be more cautious about 
compliance than marketing-side parties that are in the real estate business,” Lampe 
said. 
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RESPA OVERVIEW 
The Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act prohibits giving or receipt of any 

“thing of value” pursuant to any agreement or understanding that any real estate 
settlement service will be referred to any person or the “splitting” of settlement 
services charges except for services rendered, according to Donald Lampe, a partner 
in the financial services group at Morrison & Foerster. 

Regulation X, which implements RESPA, established that any referral of a 
settlement service is not a compensable service, except for the following scenario: 
“A referral includes any oral or written action directed to a person which has the 
effect of affirmatively influencing the selection by any person or a provider of 
settlement service or business incident to or part of a settlement service when such 
person will pay for such settlement service or business incident thereto or pay a 
charge attributable in whole or in part to such settlement service or business.” 

RESPA became law in 1974. Lampe noted that in the 30-plus years after the law 
was established, the Department of Housing and Urban Development helped industry 
participants understand the application of RESPA. 

“There were the rules and the rulemakings, policy statements and enforcement 
actions,” he said. “There was a common understanding, even if it wasn’t written 
down in a code, there was a common understanding of how to enter into these 
arrangements and satisfy HUD, and also to limit liability to the extent applicable, 
from private rights of actions.” 

 

RESPA SECTION 8 
Section 8(a) of RESPA prohibits giving a “fee, kickback, or thing of value” in 

exchange for a referral of business related to a real estate settlement service. Section 
8(c) of RESPA provides various safe harbors from liability under Section 8(a), 
including payment of bona fide compensation for goods actually furnished or 
services actually performed. 

Jeffrey Naimon, a partner at BuckleySandler, said Section 8(c) has historically 
served as the “exception” to Section 8(a) that provides the legal basis for marketing 
services agreements. 

“Whether this is in fact an exemption from liability or is something narrower, is 
one of the major issues [with MSAs and the CFPB],” he said. 

 

HUD INTERPRETATIONS OF RESPA 
Under Section 19(b) of RESPA, institutions that, in good faith, abided by HUD’s 

rules, regulations, or interpretations of RESPA would not be liable for RESPA 
violations. Rulemaking and enforcement authority involving RESPA transferred to 
the CFPB in 2011. 
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“If you comply with an interpretation first of HUD and now of the CFPB, there’s 
no liability,” Naimon said. 

To help clarify REPSA, HUD issued a number of policy statements. Statement of 
Policy 1996-3 provided guidance on whether mortgage lenders are allowed to rent 
office space or desks in a real estate agent’s office. 

HUD’s statement of policy said desk rental arrangements are permissible under 
RESPA as long as the rental payment is bona fide and not a disguised referral fee, 
and is not conditioned on the number of referrals. 

“Without this statement of policy being an official policy, I think everyone would 
be looking very hard at this type of arrangement,” Naimon said. 

With Statement of Policy 1999-1, HUD said lender-paid compensation of 
mortgage brokers is permissible under RESPA as long as the compensation “is 
reasonably related to goods, facilities, or services furnished or performed.” Naimon 
noted that HUD allowed lender-paid compensation of mortgage brokers “even 
though what a mortgage broker does is absolutely a referral.” 

“Mortgage broker compensation isn’t a payment for the referral, but a payment 
for the services that the brokers are providing,” Naimon said. “And that’s a critical 
piece here.” 

HUD’s Office of General Counsel issued an interpretive rule in 2010. The 
interpretive rule addressed the payment of fees to real estate brokers and real estate 
agents by home warranty companies. 

“The interpretive rule has formed the backbone of how to do a proper marketing 
services agreement since 2010,” Lampe said. “It confirmed a number of statements 
that the industry had already considered over the years.” 

Naimon added that the interpretive rule appeared to implicitly permit MSAs with 
bona fide compensation provisions and practices. 

Lampe noted that the interpretive rule largely re-stated a provision included in 
RESPA. “HUD repeated the long-held belief that marketing agreements must include 
bona fide payments for services actually performed,” he said. “And the services must 
be actual, necessary and distinct from services already being performed by the 
marketing party.” 

Lampe added that payments must be for services that are not nominal, and are 
not duplicative. 

Naimon said the mortgage industry relied on HUD’s policy statements when 
establishing MSAs. “These are the types of official guidance that had been provided 
that very strongly suggested that MSAs with a bona fide compensation structure 
would be permitted,” he said. 

 

 
 

Copyright © 2016 Inside Mortgage Finance Publications (301) 951-1240 
Forwarding or photocopying this document is a copyright violation.

Page 16



Guide to Marketing Services Agreements, RESPA and the CFPB 

 

PRE-CFPB ENFORCEMENT ISSUES 
Lampe detailed a number of issues involving MSAs that regulators focused on 

before the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau took over enforcement of RESPA 
in 2011. 

He noted that payment for services rendered shouldn’t be based on referrals, 
including the volume of referrals. And MSAs shouldn’t include exclusivity 
provisions. 

Lampe said compensable marketing services should be directed to the general 
public and not just individuals. The Department of Housing and Urban Development 
cautioned that verbal “sales pitches” to individuals and simply passing out 
promotional materials to individuals do not meet the standard to avoid unlawful 
payment for referrals. 

He said services provided must be more than “nominal” and must not be 
“duplicative.” HUD had taken action against MSAs where a marketing party would 
make sales pitches to try to help a consumer purchase a home. Lampe said HUD 
found such MSAs to be duplicative because that’s how ultimately real estate agents 
are compensated. 

MSAs were also subject to a determination that compensation was bona fide, for 
actual services being performed, passing the “reasonably related” test. 

 

REASONABLY RELATED TEST 
Lampe said HUD used the “reasonably related” test to gauge the value of 

services rendered. Under the test, he said the reasonableness of compensation is 
determined based on whether the value of services is reasonably related to the value 
of actual services performed by marketing party. 

To pass the test, payments must be commensurate with the amount normally 
charged for similar services, goods or facilities. Lampe said the market price used to 
determine whether a payment meets the test must not include referral fees or 
unearned fees. He said parties often rely on third-party assessments or valuations to 
satisfy the provision of the test. 

Lampe said the MSA should provide regulators with comfort that the marketing 
party is actually performing contracted services, including by requiring periodic 
reports of services and expenditures. 

He said the MSA should also include a review prior to extension or renewal to 
determine whether the MSA, in practice, has been operated in compliant fashion. 
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BEYOND MSAS 
Lampe said CFPB’s RESPA concerns appear to go beyond MSAs and reach to 

other common arrangements. “If the CFPB’s interpretation of Section 8(a) and (c)(2) 
is validated, other arrangements could be questioned,” he said. 

He said the CFPB’s interpretations could be applied to desk rentals, for example, 
or affiliated business arrangements. Lampe said the CFPB has also been critical of 
lead generation arrangements, raising concerns about unfair or deceptive practices. 
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OVERVIEW 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau took over enforcement of the Real 

Estate Settlement Procedures Act from the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development in 2011. According to Donald Lampe, a partner at Morrison & 
Foerster, the CFPB handled RESPA and marketing services agreements differently 
than HUD did. 

He noted an enforcement action against Lighthouse Title, an administrative 
proceeding against PHH, comments made by officials applauding industry 
participants for terminating MSAs and a bulletin regarding MSAs. 

“The CFPB, before our eyes, is rewriting the law, rules and previous guidance on 
RESPA,” he said. “As a result, industry participants are re-examining arrangements 
historically thought to be compliant with RESPA, especially MSAs.” 

Lampe said the CFPB has surfaced a number of new and novel interpretations of 
RESPA, causing widespread concerns for MSAs. The CFPB has argued that Section 
8(c)(2) of RESPA, upon which MSAs are built, is a mere rule of construction, and 
not a true exception under Section 8 of RESPA. 

He cautioned that under the CFPB’s interpretation, if the purpose or the intent of 
an arrangement is to obtain referrals, Section 8 may be violated, even though Section 
8(c)(2) was otherwise complied with. 

Officials at the CFPB have suggested that in examinations, the federal regulator 
has yet to see a compliant MSA. Lampe added that there is no “safe harbor” for 
MSAs and each arrangement must be evaluated on its own. 

“Traditional factors, such as agreement terms, valuations and monitoring, are not 
persuasive if referrals are involved,” he said. 

Jeffrey Naimon, a partner at BuckleySandler, added that Richard Cordray, 
director of the CFPB, has raised concerns about kickbacks that other regulators 
haven’t raised. “Kickbacks drive up the cost of getting a mortgage and put law-
abiding companies at a disadvantage,” Cordray said in 2014 in relation to a consent 
order against Stonebridge Title Services. 

Naimon questioned Cordray’s position. “I’m not sure that anyone has ever 
showed that an MSA has driven up anybody’s cost, but that’s the position that 
Director Cordray has taken,” he said. 

 

CONSENT ORDER WITH LIGHTHOUSE TITLE 
Naimon said the CFPB’s potentially divergent analysis of RESPA and MSAs 

emerged with a September 2014 consent order with Lighthouse Title. The regulator 
ordered the title insurance agency to pay $200,000 for entering into what the CFPB 
characterized as illegal quid pro quo referral agreements, in violation of RESPA. 
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According to the CFPB, Lighthouse entered into MSAs with various companies, 
such as real estate brokers, with the understanding that the companies would refer 
mortgage closing and title insurance business to Lighthouse. 

“The agreements made it appear as if the payments would be based on marketing 
services the companies were supposed to provide to Lighthouse,” the CFPB said. 
“However, Lighthouse actually set the fees it would pay under the MSAs, in part, by 
considering the number of referrals it received or expected to receive from each 
company.” 

The CFPB said its investigation found that the companies on average referred 
significantly more business to Lighthouse when they had MSAs than when they did 
not. 

In addition to the monetary penalty, Lighthouse was required to immediately 
terminate any existing MSAs with companies in a position to refer business to 
Lighthouse, and was prohibited from entering into new MSAs with any such 
companies. 

Lighthouse said it proactively discontinued the handful of remaining active 
MSAs in the months before the consent order was announced, even as several of its 
competitors continued the practice. 

“Lighthouse, from the initial use of the MSAs, strived to be RESPA compliant 
first by using agreement forms provided by title insurance underwriters, later by 
soliciting the advice of a RESPA compliance consulting firm and by operating under 
the guidelines of HUD’s 2010 definition,” the company said. “Because of our efforts, 
we took a more conservative approach to the MSA model over this five-year process 
until terminating the few remaining agreements earlier this summer. 

“While the settlement was agreed upon by both parties, Lighthouse strongly 
believes that it operated consistent with HUD guidelines, and the large majority of 
the disclosed consent matters were very much in dispute,” the company added. 

The CFPB said the title company allegedly violated RESPA Section 8(a) by 
entering into MSAs in exchange for referrals with settlement service businesses. 
“Entering a contract is a ‘thing of value’ within the meaning of Section 8, even if the 
fees paid under that contract are fair market value for the goods or services 
provided,” according to the consent order. 

The CFPB demonstrated that after Lighthouse entered into MSAs with 
counterparties, there were increased numbers of referrals between the parties, which 
weren’t explained by seasonal or yearly fluctuations. The regulator attributed the 
increased number of referrals to the MSA. 

Naimon said the CFPB’s conclusion was troubling. “If you’re successful, that’s 
evidence that the MSA is in violation of RESPA, according to the CFPB,” he said. 
“It may be that only unprofitable relationships and unsuccessful relationships don’t 
trip you up under RESPA.” 

The CFPB also claimed marketing fees were based on referrals, and that 
counterparties weren’t monitored to ensure performance of services. 
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Naimon said the CFPB made a “critical leap” with the enforcement action 
against Lighthouse, surprising industry participants. 

“The first thought that many people had, looking at this consent order, was that 
the provision basically said you can’t even enter into a contract, because entering 
into a contract at fair market value would be a violation,” he said. “I think that 
caused many people to think that this was kind of a mistake, that the CFPB had just 
kind of blown it, that some enforcement lawyer had kind of gotten out in front of his 
or her skis.” 

However, some suggested that the consent order represented new policy from the 
CFPB regarding RESPA and MSAs. “But how could it be, because Section 8(c)(2) is 
really clear on this issue, that the statute provides an exemption from liability,” 
Naimon said. 

He noted that in the months after the consent order with Lighthouse, industry 
participants sought additional guidance from the CFPB regarding RESPA and 
MSAs. “We didn’t get anything useful from the bureau until the PHH decision came 
out in 2015,” Naimon said. 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING AGAINST PHH 
The CFPB issued an administrative proceeding against PHH in January 2014. 

The regulator alleged that PHH harmed consumers through a mortgage insurance 
kickback scheme. 

PHH appealed the administrative enforcement proceeding and CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray issued a decision on the appeal in June 2015. Cordray ruled that 
PHH illegally referred consumers to mortgage insurers in exchange for kickbacks. 
PHH was ordered to pay the CFPB $109.2 million as part of the order. 

Naimon said the CFPB’s rationale included some troubling interpretations of 
RESPA. 

“The CFPB says that the lender was referring customers to mortgage insurers on 
the understanding that the insurer would purchase mortgage reinsurance from the 
mortgage lender subsidiary at market value,” he said. “So they were not taking the 
position that the mortgage reinsurance was at the wrong price, the agreement to 
reinsure was a market-priced agreement. Yet, the agreement to reinsure was, in and 
of itself, a thing of value.” 

Naimon said Cordray’s order established that there is no safe harbor from 
liability just because a company is paying or receiving fair market value for a good 
or service. 

Cordray’s order also stated that Section 8(c) isn’t an exemption from RESPA 
liability, but rather a clarification of Section 8(a). According to the order, a payment 
is “bona fide” for the purposes of Section 8(c) only if it is made for the services 
performed, and not associated with any referral arrangement between the parties to 
the MSA. 
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“Section 8(c)(2) only becomes relevant if there is a question as to whether the 
parties actually did enter into an agreement to refer settlement service business,” 
according to Cordray’s order. 

Cordray acknowledged that there was prior HUD guidance that was inconsistent 
with his view. However, Cordray said the conflicting guidance from HUD was 
neither persuasive nor controlling due to the guidance’s internal inconsistencies and 
non-binding nature. 

Naimon raised concerns about how Cordray handled the action. 

“Even though there was a letter that was written by the assistant secretary of 
HUD – who was responsible for RESPA at HUD at the time – that set out exactly 
how to do mortgage reinsurance arrangements, and even though the companies 
involved here followed that guidance to the letter, the guidance was nonbinding and 
unpersuasive to Director Cordray,” Naimon said. “I think it’s unfortunate that that 
kind of a change of position by the federal government on an important statute for 
the mortgage industry would occur in a retroactive fashion like this.” 

Ron Haynie, a senior vice president for mortgage finance policy at the 
Independent Community Bankers of America, raised concerns about the CFPB’s 
premise that PHH engaged in RESPA violations because it steered borrowers into 
loans with mortgage insurance or higher mortgage insurance premiums in order to 
fund its captive. 

“The problem is, you can’t really steer someone into mortgage insurance,” 
Haynie explained. “You either need it or you don’t. Either it’s required because it’s a 
loan over 80 percent or it’s not because it’s a loan under 80 percent. So that in and of 
itself is troubling.” 

PHH was not alone in setting up captive reinsurers, and the CFPB decision 
suggests that any such arrangement – regardless of pricing or structure – is illegal. In 
2007, at the peak of the captive MI business, private MIs ceded some $928.2 million 
to lender captives, and PHH’s Atrium unit ranked just ninth in the industry, 
according to an Inside Mortgage Finance analysis of MI annual filings. 

By 2012, with all the captives in runoff mode, the private MIs still ceded $216.6 
million in premiums to lender captives. Units sponsored by Chase, Citi, Washington 
Mutual, Countrywide and Wells Fargo were the biggest captives at that point. 

From the middle of 2008 to the end of 2012, private MIs ceded an estimated $2.4 
billion of insurance premiums to lender captives. 

 

ENFORCEMENT ACTION AGAINST GENUINE TITLE 
In April 2015, the CFPB and the Maryland Attorney General brought an 

enforcement action against a Maryland-based title company and its executives, 
alleging they participated in a mortgage kickback scheme, trading cash and 
marketing services in exchange for referrals. 
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The complaint named Genuine Title, as well as Jay Zukerberg, Brandon 
Glickstein, Gary Klopp, Adam Mandelberg, William Peterson and Angela Pobletts, 
along with a number of limited-liability companies controlled by certain defendants. 

The CFPB and Maryland alleged that Zukerberg and Glickstein developed and 
operated schemes to give loan officers marketing services and cash payments in 
exchange for referrals of title work. The regulators said the kickback schemes 
violated RESPA, which prohibits giving a “fee, kickback, or thing of value” in 
exchange for a referral of business related to a real estate settlement service. 

The CFPB and Maryland alleged that the defendants exchanged valuable 
marketing services for referrals. The CFPB said Genuine Title offered services, 
including purchasing, analyzing, and providing data on consumers, and creating 
letters with the loan officers’ contact information that the company printed, folded, 
stuffed into envelopes, and mailed. In return, the loan officers would refer 
homebuyers to the company for closing services. 

“This scheme was especially profitable for the loan officers, who generally are 
paid by commission, because the marketing services increased the amount of 
business they generated,” the CFPB said. 

The defendants also allegedly funneled illegal cash kickbacks through a network 
of companies. The four individual loan officers named in the filings allegedly 
received cash payments through companies they created and controlled. “Zukerberg 
knew that it would look ‘fishy’ if Genuine Title paid cash directly to the loan 
officers,” the CFPB said. 

“So, instead, Genuine Title funneled the payments to loan officers through 
companies created by the loan officers.” From 2009 to 2013, Zukerberg and 
Glickstein allegedly arranged for cash payments to the loan officers from Genuine 
Title in amounts ranging from about $130,000 to $500,000. 

Under the consent orders, five of the six individual defendants would be banned 
from the mortgage industry and required to pay a total of $662,500 in redress and 
penalties. 

The announcement followed enforcement actions in January 2015 against Wells 
Fargo and JPMorgan Chase for their alleged roles in the scheme. 

Under the terms of that settlement agreement, Wells was to provide $10.8 million 
in restitution to customers who used a Wells loan officer and closed a settlement 
with Genuine Title between September 2011 and early 2014. Wells Fargo was to pay 
penalties of $21 million to the CFPB and $3 million to the Maryland Consumer 
Protection Division. 

Chase agreed to provide $300,000 in restitution and to pay penalties of $500,000 
to the CFPB and $100,000 to the Maryland CPD. 
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GUIDANCE FROM THE CFPB 
In October 2015, the CFPB issued guidance regarding mortgage-related MSAs. 

The CFPB said it found that many MSAs involve substantial legal and regulatory 
risks that are greater and less capable of being controlled by careful monitoring than 
mortgage industry participants may have recognized in the past. 

“We are deeply concerned about how marketing services agreements are 
undermining important consumer protections against kickbacks,” said CFPB 
Director Richard Cordray. “Companies do not seem to be recognizing the extent of 
the risks posed by implementing and monitoring these agreements within the bounds 
of the law.” 

CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2015-05 explained that, while MSAs are usually 
framed as payments for advertising or promotional services, “in some cases the 
payments are actually disguised compensation for referrals. Any agreement that 
entails exchanging a thing of value for referrals of settlement service business likely 
violates federal law, regardless of whether a marketing services agreement is part of 
the transaction.” 

The bulletin noted that whistleblower complaints about MSAs that violate 
RESPA have been increasing. “Any industry participant that suspects unlawful 
activity by others or that wishes to self-report its own conduct that may have violated 
RESPA is encouraged to contact the CFPB,” the regulator said. “Self-reporting and 
cooperation, consistent with the Responsible Business Conduct bulletin, CFPB 
Bulletin 2013-06, will be taken into account in resolving such matters.” 

 

ANALYSIS OF CFPB BULLETIN 
“MSAs aren’t dead, but maybe they’re on life support,” John Socknat, a practice 

leader in the mortgage banking group at Ballard Spahr, said after the bulletin from 
the CFPB. 

Naimon noted that the guidance didn’t state that all MSAs are illegal. “Instead of 
giving legal guidance, the bureau is really giving risk guidance: We aren’t going to 
tell you what is legal and what isn’t legal. We’re just going to tell you what you’re 
doing is insufficient, and it’s really risky,” he said. 

Naimon said the CFPB’s actions regarding MSAs make it likely that if a CFPB 
examiner sees an MSA, they’re going to scrutinize it and they’re most likely going to 
take the view that the MSA is impermissible. 

According to the bulletin, MSAs should be reviewed in light of the facts and 
circumstances surrounding the creation of each agreement and its implementation. 
Naimon suggested that lenders should address the following issues: 

 Is the MSA actually designed or intended to disguise an illegal referral 
fee structure or other form of compensated steering? 
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 Does the MSA undermine consumers’ ability to shop for mortgages or 
related settlement services? 

 Are the services required under the MSA actually performed, and in the 
quantity and at the frequency contemplated by the agreement? 

 Are the marketing services required by the MSA aimed at consumers or 
other settlement service providers?  

 Does the number of referrals given or received increase once the MSA is 
in place? 

He said the bulletin highlights various aspects of MSAs that may result in an 
increased risk of engaging in a RESPA violation. Naimon said the following 
activities under MSAs pose risks for lenders: 

 Charging fees under an MSA based in any way on referral volume; 

 Making payments pursuant to the MSA’s terms even when a party fails to 
perform services or provide goods as required; 

 Increasing the volume of referrals to a person or entity after establishing 
an MSA relationship with that person or entity; or 

 Directing marketing efforts under an MSA toward other settlement 
service providers, rather than consumers, in an attempt to establish 
additional MSAs or referral relationships. 

Michael Barone, a director of legal and regulatory compliance at Lenders 
Compliance Group, a consulting firm, said the bulletin “was an effort to get 
something out very quickly,” in response to all the congressional criticism that 
Cordray received from critics on Capitol Hill. “It really does not have a lot of teeth at 
all,” Barone said of the bulletin. 

He added that the guidance doesn’t “tell us anything more than where we were 
an hour before this guidance came out. I think we know the CFPB doesn’t like these. 
They also say they are going to continue to scrutinize them, and we know that.” 

The Mortgage Bankers Association cautioned against operating as though the 
bulletin didn’t include new information. “MBA views it as a strong warning to the 
industry to reconsider existing MSAs or any plans to establish new ones,” the trade 
group said. 

Pete Mills, senior vice president of residential policy and member engagement 
with the MBA, said, “The one clear test that emerges from the guidance is that if the 
MSA involves a referral of any kind, then it is a violation of RESPA.” 

He said the MBA believes that the bulletin represents a new interpretation of 
MSAs under RESPA, which should be completed through notice-and-comment 
rulemaking. 

Benjamin Olson, a partner at the BuckleySandler law firm and former deputy 
assistant director in the CFPB’s Office of Regulations, noted that the bulletin stopped 
short of declaring MSAs to be categorically illegal, which the regulator likely could 
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not do without more formal action. “However, it confirms the bureau’s strong 
skepticism and its unwillingness to identify a compliant MSA,” he said. 

Olson said a rulemaking that better defines what is and is not permitted under 
Section 8 of RESPA would be welcomed, but said he wasn’t aware of any plans at 
the bureau to initiate a rulemaking process. 

Moreover, “It’s not clear whether the bureau has the authority to categorically 
ban all MSAs,” the attorney pointed out. “Recently, courts have been unwilling to 
defer to the bureau’s and HUD’s interpretations of Section 8, but that could change 
in the context of a notice-and-comment rulemaking.” 

Richard Andreano, a partner in the mortgage banking unit of the Ballard Spahr 
law firm, noted that the guidance is not an official rule, “but when the CFPB lays out 
its view, they tend to expect you to follow it. So if they come in during an 
examination later on and you haven’t [followed the guidance], they’ll question it.” 

 

LENDERS’ REACTION TO CFPB’S FOCUS ON MSAS 
After Cordray’s decision against PHH, Naimon said many companies started 

withdrawing from MSAs, or not entering into new ones if the arrangements were 
dependent on Section 8(c) and the use of a fair market value defense. 

Mills, of the MBA, said the CFPB has a significantly different view from HUD 
regarding the permissibility of MSAs. 

“This is not a case of something that’s been unenforced for decades,” he said. 
“Everyone knows about these. HUD for years did RESPA enforcement. But now that 
view has changed under the auspices of the Bureau via the enforcement action 
against Lighthouse and the PHH matter.” 

On July 30, 2015, Wells Fargo and Prospect Mortgage separately announced that 
they were discontinuing mortgage MSAs. 

Wells said that beginning Aug. 1, 2015, it would withdraw from mortgage 
marketing services and desk rental agreements with real estate firms, builders and 
certain other referral sources. The bank said the decision was the result of increasing 
uncertainty surrounding regulatory oversight of these types of arrangements, along 
with Wells’ efforts to simplify the process that customers experience when shopping 
for a mortgage. 

“Real estate firms and builders always have been – and will continue to be – very 
important to Wells Fargo’s retail mortgage operations, and we are exploring a 
number of new options for enhancing and strengthening those relationships over the 
long term,” said Franklin Codel, executive vice president for mortgage production at 
the company. “Because we value our strong relationships with real estate 
professionals and builders, the decision to exit these marketing services agreements 
was difficult, but we are taking this action to ensure that we continue to conduct our 
business in a way that represents the best interests of all of our customers and clients. 
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We believe the best way to earn the relationship with real estate firms and builders is 
through timely, dependable service delivered by the best team in the business.” 

Wells said the termination of MSAs wasn’t expected to have a material impact 
on the bank’s total mortgage production.  

Prospect said it would discontinue marketing activities that depend on MSAs by 
the end of the third quarter of 2015. 

“Recent interpretations of RESPA requirements introduce substantial uncertainty 
as to the rules and requirements applicable to MSAs,” the lender said. “Prospect has 
taken every precaution to ensure that it is complying with the rules and guidance 
under applicable law. However, in light of these recent rulings, Prospect believes that 
MSAs are no longer a viable marketing tool for the industry.” 

Prospect said it values its relationships with real estate professionals and other 
service providers that provide service to consumers. “Prospect will continue to work 
closely with industry partners to increase the understanding of the process through 
financial education, improved products and tools that make the purchase of a home 
or the refinance of a mortgage a reality for Americans and reduce the risk inherent in 
such transactions,” the lender said. 

Shortly after the CFPB issued its bulletin regarding MSAs and RESPA, Bank of 
America announced that it would end all MSAs the bank had with realty firms. BofA 
said it would discontinue all “space rental agreement programs due to recent 
regulatory developments.” 

“We expect our MSA agreements will conclude by Nov. 1, 2015, and we will 
terminate our lease agreements for space in accordance with their terms,” BofA said. 
“While the decision to wind down our MSA and [space rental] programs was 
difficult, the end of these programs allows us to pursue different ways we might help 
builders and Realtors provide superior service and financing solutions for their 
customers.” 

 

ADVICE ON WHAT NOT TO INCLUDE IN AN MSA 
Socknat said it’s not clear how to structure an MSA to be compliant under 

regulation by the CFPB. However, the CFPB has provided plenty of examples of 
provisions not to include in an MSA. 

Don’t pay for services without obtaining an independent third-party evaluation of 
the fair market value of the goods, facilities or services that are or will be provided. 
“We know that, according to Cordray, paying fair market value is not a safe harbor 
in and of itself, but you’ve lost the argument at the outset if you can’t justify that you 
are not paying more than fair market value for the services that are being provided,” 
Socknat said. 

He reiterated that an MSA shouldn’t base compensation on past referral volume 
or anticipated future volume. 
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“In the old days, it wasn’t uncommon to see provisions that had fairly regular 
reassessments of the success of the marketing services agreement as measured by 
how much business was generated, and then adjustments to the compensation,” 
Socknat said. “We know that that’s not going to work going forward. So, use static 
compensation that changes only when it’s determined that all of the required services 
were not provided. That is the safest course.” 

He said an entity shouldn’t attempt to justify paying more than an independently-
determined fair market value based solely on the reasoning that the market pays 
more. “What the market pays is important, to be sure, particularly when it’s less than 
what the fair market value is, as determined by an independent third party,” Socknat 
said. “But it has to bear a relation to fair market value or it can create issues.” 

Payments should also be linked to results from monitoring. “You need to 
document your monitoring, document what services were and were not provided, and 
how that impacted any adjustments to the fees paid under the agreement,” Socknat 
said. 

He cautioned against entering into agreements that provide for exclusivity, such 
as being named as a preferred lender. “It’s difficult to argue that arrangements that 
include exclusivity aren’t referral arrangements,” Socknat said. 

Socknat said companies shouldn’t enter into multi-purpose arrangements, such as 
an MSA and a desk rental, or an MSA and a lead agreement. “They’re separate, 
distinct arrangements, and should be documented separately,” he said. “I don’t know 
how combining those two would ever pass muster,” Socknat said of combining an 
MSA and a lead agreement. 

He suggested lender policies and procedures should prohibit paying for the 
referral of business. And lenders should train employees, particularly loan 
originators, that giving a thing of value in return for any expectation of the referral is 
illegal and in violation of company policy. 

Socknat said MSAs shouldn’t pay for services that are duplicative, aren’t 
necessary or aren’t distinct. 

Socknat stressed that lenders should individually gauge the risk of entering into 
MSAs. 

“Business-generation arrangements can present significant risk,” he said. “It may 
or may not be appropriate for your own company’s risk tolerance. It may not be 
appropriate for the risk tolerance of your potential business partners, or how your 
employees view your institution’s risk tolerance.” 

He noted that industry participants that are more comfortable with risk than 
others will continue to enter MSAs. “There no doubt are some industry players who 
see the concern among some members of the industry around MSAs as an 
opportunity to take over those relationships, enter into more MSAs or other business-
generation arrangements,” Socknat said. 
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He said lenders risk losing business or loan officers if they don’t match 
competitors’ MSAs. “But the decision has to be based on more than just: ‘everyone 
else is doing it, so we have to as well,’” Socknat said. 

 

ENFORCEMENT ISSUES UNDER THE CFPB 
Naimon said Cordray’s ruling against PHH makes it clear that entities can’t 

merely rely on prior HUD guidance when entering into an MSA. He added that even 
if an MSA is drafted to be “technically compliant” with RESPA Section 8, its 
implementation may nevertheless result in a violation. 

The CFPB has faulted MSA participants for the failure to monitor counterparties, 
an inability to control individual employees and even success with the MSA in the 
case involving Lighthouse Title. 

Socknat said any agreement or arrangement with a third party that relates to a 
settlement service or the generation of business is susceptible to being characterized 
by the CFPB as a referral arrangement. “The industry is now in a position of having 
to potentially justify any sort of arrangement, including those that are designed to 
generate business,” he said. 

Naimon said entities can’t rely entirely on third-party valuations of services 
performed under an MSA to justify the MSA’s legality. 

“What we’ve done for decades is used some sort of economic or consultant 
analysis to provide a third-party independent valuation of what the services are 
worth,” he said. “Cordray’s PHH decision determined that if there is evidence that an 
entity has agreed to a referral arrangement, then any payments made under that 
arrangement are impermissible under RESPA – even if the arrangement is an MSA 
with market value payments.” 

Naimon added that whistleblower tips are a critical resource for CFPB to identify 
RESPA violations. 

“The night that the guidance from the CFPB came out, a client sent us a tip that 
they had gotten a complaint from the bureau based on an email from a tipper, 
claiming the company was engaged in illegal MSAs,” Naimon said. “The CFPB was 
asking the company to provide information about their MSAs. So, this is something 
that you have to be very careful with and think about who in the market may set the 
bureau or some state regulator or someone else onto your door.” 

Socknat added that if a company has MSAs or other business-generation 
agreements such as desk rentals or lead-generation agreements, they have to expect 
that their own employees and competitors are going to notify regulators. He said loan 
officers are also more likely to prefer to work for lenders that have MSAs. 
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MONITORING A CONCERN 
In October 2015, CFPB Director Richard Cordray showed no sign of backing 

down regarding MSAs and possible violations of RESPA. Speaking at the Mortgage 
Bankers Association’s annual convention in San Diego, the director noted that his 
agency concluded from its enforcement experience that MSAs necessarily involve 
substantial legal and compliance risk for the parties to the agreements – whether they 
are lenders, brokers, title companies or real estate professionals. 

“We believe those risks are greater and less capable of being controlled by 
careful monitoring than mortgage industry participants may have recognized in the 
past,” said the director. “MSAs appear to create opportunities for parties to pay or 
accept illegal compensation for making referrals of settlement service business.” 

The CFPB also found that it is inherently difficult to adequately monitor 
activities that are performed in turn by a wide range of individuals pursuant to such 
agreements. 

“Especially in view of the strong financial incentives and pressures that exist in 
the mortgage and settlement service markets, the risk of behaviors that may violate 
the law are likely to remain significant,” Cordray said. “That can be true even where 
the terms have been carefully drafted to be technically compliant with the provisions 
of the law.” 

Reiterating the CFPB’s “grave concerns about the use of MSAs in ways that 
evade the requirements of RESPA,” Cordray emphasized that “a more careful 
consideration of legal and compliance risk arising from these agreements would be 
in order for anyone that participates in the mortgage industry, including … lenders, 
brokers, title companies, and real estate professionals.” 

Such review is particularly justified, given that whistleblower complaints about 
legal violations with MSAs have been increasing, according to Cordray. 

“Our enforcement actions against companies and individuals for violations of 
RESPA have resulted in more than $75 million in penalties to date, almost all of that 
arising from the payment of improper kickbacks and referral fees,” he said. “We will 
remain active in scrutinizing the use of such agreements and related arrangements in 
the course of our enforcement and supervision work.” 

 

OUTSIDE OF THE RULEMAKING PROCESS 
Jonathan Foxx, president and managing director at Lenders Compliance Group, a 

consulting firm, said enforcement actions are supplanting notice-and-comment 
rulemaking at the CFPB. 

“While the CFPB also has utilized notice-and-comment rulemaking, it has 
increasingly resorted to enforcement actions to communicate its priorities and 
statutory interpretations,” he said. “But many of these enforcement actions settle, 
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leaving others unprepared for clear and distinct interpretations of regulatory 
mandates.” 

The CFPB also has issued consent orders that detail new legal positions taken by 
the regulator. Foxx said it seems increasingly clear that the CFPB is set on regulating 
via consent orders. “The director not only sets policy for the CFPB’s enforcement 
division but also decides the merits of that policy as the first line of appellate 
review,” he said. 

 
STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS 

Foxx said RESPA provided a three-year statute of limitations on actions brought 
by the Department of Housing and Urban Development to enforce the law. 

“HUD was limited to proceeding in court and had no jurisdiction to proceed 
administratively,” he said. “HUD was entirely bound by this three-year statute of 
limitations for enforcing RESPA.” 

With the CFPB, there is no statute of limitations on administrative enforcement 
of RESPA. Foxx noted that the Dodd-Frank Act, which created the CPFB and 
reassigned HUD’s RESPA enforcement, permits the bureau to bring enforcement 
actions either through court actions or administrative proceedings. 

“Only constitutional prohibitions on retroactivity created any limitations 
whatsoever on the scope of the CFPB’s look-back period,” Foxx said. 

CFPB Director Richard Cordray held that while the bureau “could not revive 
claims that became time-barred under HUD (and retroactively re-criminalize the 
conduct), it could pursue all claims which accrued within the three-year limitations 
period applicable to HUD.”  

In his action against PHH, Cordray also determined that there are no limitations 
for administrative enforcement for claims that accrued after the CFPB was created. 
With those combined powers, “PHH was held liable for all conduct from July 21, 
2008, forward,” Foxx said. 

 

REGULATION BEYOND RESPA 
Socknat cautioned that RESPA isn’t the only law that can be used against MSAs. 

“RESPA Section 8 just happens to be the hammer that Cordray is wielding at the 
moment, and it’s a big hammer, to be sure,” he said. 

Socknat said MSAs and other business-generation arrangements are susceptible 
to claims regarding unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. “An act or practice 
doesn’t have to violate a statute or regulation to support a claim that it’s unfair, 
deceptive, or abusive, and that’s a scary thing,” he said. 
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STATE REGULATORS 
Socknat noted that a number of state regulators audit lenders for compliance with 

federal laws. He said state regulators are increasingly looking for violations of 
RESPA and for issues involving MSAs. 

Before the CFPB released guidance regarding MSAs, Socknat said a lender faced 
scrutiny by Oregon regulators. The lender was licensed in the state but didn’t have 
any licensed loan originators in Oregon and hadn’t made any loans in the state 
during the exam period. 

“Yet during the course of exam, our lender client was required to provide copies 
of its MSA agreements with its business partners, to provide copies of the fair market 
evaluation criteria that its independent third party utilized, to share copies of 
compensation that was paid, and was asked to go back to its marketing service 
partners to get them to sign affidavits that said that no other settlement service 
providers were allowed to participate in the meetings that were part of the marketing 
services arrangement,” Socknat said. 

He said the lender was able to push back against the requests in part because the 
lender hadn’t originated any mortgages in the state. “The lender didn’t have MSAs 
with parties that were in a position to help generate Oregon loans,” Socknat said. 

The Washington Department of Financial Institutions also announced in its fall 
2015 bulletin that it will focus on the CFPB’s bulletin regarding MSAs. “It is the 
Department’s position that while MSAs do not automatically violate RESPA, we 
agree with the CFPB’s conclusion, it is imperative that licensees ensure that their 
MSAs are carefully valued, expertly managed, and routinely audited to ensure they 
comply with Section 8,” according to the DFI. 

The state regulator advised lenders to engage lawyers to review MSAs. The DFI 
also said lenders should ensure that the services that are to be provided are clearly 
described in detail; ensure that fair market value is obtained, documented and 
updated regularly; ensure that services are audited and documented and payments are 
based on fair market value; and ensure that training is completed. 

 

LEAD-GENERATION AGREEMENTS 
Unlike joint ventures and desk rentals, Socknat said there hasn’t been any formal 

guidance from federal regulators in recent years regarding lead-generation 
agreements. He said HUD clarified in 1994 that payment for a list of prospects 
doesn’t violate RESPA, so long as the payment is not conditioned on closed 
transactions or on other considerations such as an endorsement of the lender or the 
product. 

“The first part of this guidance is fairly straightforward: you can’t pay based on 
closed loans,” Socknat said. “The more complicated part of this informal guidance is 
that you can’t pay for an endorsement.” 

Copyright © 2016 Inside Mortgage Finance Publications (301) 951-1240 
Forwarding or photocopying this document is a copyright violation.

Page 34



Guide to Marketing Services Agreements, RESPA and the CFPB 

 

He said current lead-generation practices bear little resemblance to lead-
generation practices in 1994. Socknat said the 1994 guidance likely addressed leads 
gathered by browsing records at a county recorder’s office whereas many lead 
generators now collect information directly from potential borrowers. 

“They get consent from those borrowers to share information with one or more 
lenders, and the issue of endorsement becomes more problematic, particularly given 
the CFPB’s public position on RESPA Section 8,” Socknat said. 

He said lenders that purchase leads are potentially paying for an endorsement, 
which could prompt issues with RESPA. “I think it depends on how the arrangement 
is structured,” Socknat said. “In light of the CFPB’s position on MSAs, lead-
generation arrangements probably warrant a fresh look.” 

 

JOINT VENTURES 
In 1996, HUD issued a policy statement with a 10-factor test to judge whether a 

joint venture was in compliance with RESPA. Socknat suggested that the CFPB’s 
focus on MSAs also puts joint ventures at risk. 

“As with any lead-generation agreement, at the core of a joint venture is the goal 
of generating more business, and legally compensating a party that’s in a position to 
refer business,” he said. “I think it’s wise to revisit how many joint ventures you 
have in place and how they are actually working.” 

Naimon said lenders haven’t moved from MSAs to joint ventures because sham 
affiliated business arrangements are prohibited. “That means that you have to create 
a new joint venture entity and ensure that it’s actually the real provider of services, 
that it’s not a shell company and so forth,” he said. 

Socknat said setting up a joint venture requires a significant outlay of capital and 
resources to establish a separate company with its own employees, its own policies 
and procedures and its own net worth. 

Naimon said regulators have targeted joint ventures that are actually MSAs that 
were created to cover what was really happening. 

“It’s difficult to create these arrangements properly and then keep them operating 
properly because of the necessity under the multi-factor test,” he said. 

Socknat added that joint ventures can raise other regulatory issues that don’t 
necessarily impact MSAs. “Depending on the types of fees and the type of joint 
venture that’s been created, certain fees can be required in tests for high-cost loans,” 
he said. 

In October 2015, filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission revealed 
that PHH adjusted the terms of its joint venture with Realogy, a real estate brokerage 
company. The firms removed a provision from the agreement that stated that 
Realogy shall be the exclusive recommended real estate firm for PHH’s customers. 
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DESK RENTALS 
While federal regulators have allowed for desk-rental agreements, Socknat said 

the practice should be reviewed in light of the CFPB’s focus on MSAs. He said the 
risk varies based on how the desk-rental agreement operates. 

“At one end of the spectrum is renting or subleasing from a real estate agent or 
builder, space that’s actually within that real estate agent’s office space or builder’s 
space,” Socknat said. “That would seem to me to present a higher degree of risk.” 

He suggested it’s less risky to rent space from a landlord, where that landlord is 
not the real estate broker or builder, but the space just happens to be next to a builder 
or real estate broker’s office. “It would be difficult for the CFPB to be able to dictate 
to a lender where they can or can’t open an office or lease space, provided the office 
otherwise is established in compliance with state and federal law,” Socknat said. 

He said a more ambiguous scenario involves subleasing separate but adjacent 
space to a builder, where the builder is the landlord. “Space next to a builder is 
obviously much more valuable than space next to a barbershop, for example,” 
Socknat said. “Even if you’re paying fair market value, my concern is that, according 
to Cordray, just because you paid fair market value doesn’t mean it’s dispositive.” 

 

UNCOMPENSATED REFERRALS AND RELATIONSHIPS 

WITH REFERRAL SOURCES 
Socknat cautioned that agreements for uncompensated referrals can be subject to 

scrutiny by the CFPB. 

“How can you be sure that, notwithstanding the lack of any sort of agreement to 
pay, that a loan officer might not pay for referrals,” Socknat said. “The lender 
obviously will have policies and procedures that are in place to prohibit giving a 
thing of value for referrals, but policing it is another matter.” 

A loan officer’s relationships with real estate agents could also run afoul of the 
CFPB. “Cordray doesn’t like steering and lack of consumer choice,” Socknat said. 
“Even without an agreement, a relationship where a real estate agent who refers 
leads to a loan officer because he knows the lender will deliver could put your 
company at risk. I’m not suggesting that you all just give up and close up shop. It’s 
just that it’s necessary to revisit these relationships.” 

 

JOINT MARKETING 
Socknat said joint marketing agreements between real estate agents and lenders 

don’t present nearly as much risk as MSAs, though the CFPB could still find fault in 
such agreements. 
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He suggested that an agreement where a real estate agent and a lender create a 
joint marketing campaign, with each paying half the cost and each distributing the 
marketing material, would likely pass muster with the CFPB. 

Naimon added that prominence in the advertisement is also a factor. “You have 
to pay proportionally to the amount of the advertisement that you get,” he said. 

Naimon warned against agreements with real estate agents where the real estate 
agent works with multiple lenders and ends up not paying for the ad. 

“One concern that we’ve seen is that advertisement A goes to lender A, 
advertisement B goes to lender B, advertisement C goes to lender C, and they ask the 
lenders to split in three ways the cost of those ads,” he said. “Each lender is only 
paying for their proportion of what comes up, but the real estate agent ends up 
paying nothing.” 

Naimon said the lender is only allowed to pay half of their share of the cost of the 
ad because it’s a joint advertisement that has both the real estate agent and the 
lender. 

Socknat cautioned that an agreement where a real estate agent and a lender create 
a joint marketing piece, each of them pays half, but only the real estate agent 
distributes the marketing piece to its client, could be viewed as an endorsement or 
steering. 

 

VENDOR OVERSIGHT 
The CFPB requires lenders to oversee their vendors and has made lenders liable 

for actions completed by vendors on behalf of lenders. Socknat said lead generators 
and MSA partners could fall under the definition of a vendor. 

“In exams, the CFPB has advised our wholesale lender clients that they’re 
responsible for monitoring the marketing undertaken by their brokers,” he said. “It’s 
not a stretch to argue that an MSA partner or lead generator is not too different from 
a broker.” 

Socknat suggested that as lenders consider alternatives to MSAs, it’s important to 
keep in mind regulatory issues that may be presented by the alternatives. 
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OVERVIEW 
In January 2014, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau initiated an 

administrative proceeding against PHH, accusing the lender of harming consumers 
through a mortgage insurance kickback scheme that started as early as 1995. 

The crux of the dispute is the CFPB’s assertion that PHH violated the Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures Act by illegally referring borrowers to private mortgage 
insurance companies that purchased reinsurance from its captive reinsurance 
company. 

The CFPB also asserted that the reinsurance payments received by PHH from 
mortgage insurers were a “thing of value” received in consideration for PHH’s 
referrals and not compensation for services performed. The payments grossly 
exceeded the value of the reinsurance services provided by Atrium, PHH’s captive 
reinsurer, the CFPB alleged. 

Further, the bureau alleged that PHH violated RESPA because the amounts that 
were ceded to Atrium constituted a split of mortgage insurance premiums paid by the 
borrowers. 

Administrative Law Judge Cameron Elliot subsequently conducted a lengthy trial 
on the matter and concluded that PHH referred consumers to mortgage insurance 
companies in exchange for kickbacks. Elliot held that these referrals and kickbacks 
violated RESPA and set a $6.4 million penalty. 

Both parties appealed the ALJ’s recommended decision, and the appeal was fully 
briefed and argued. 

However, in June 2015, CFPB Director Richard Cordray overrode the $6.4 
million penalty set by an ALJ and ordered PHH to pay $109.2 million – all the 
mortgage insurance premiums it received from its captive reinsurer, Atrium, after 
July 2008, regardless of when the loan was originated. 

July 2008 was three years (the statute of limitations on Real Estate Settlement 
Procedures Act actions) prior to when the CFPB took over RESPA enforcement 
from the Department of Housing and Urban Development. The ALJ penalty was 
based on MI premiums received on loans originated after July 2008. 

Cordray’s view is that captive reinsurance programs violate RESPA’s anti-
kickback provisions, whether or not they’ve been profitable for the lender sponsor. 
In this case, PHH was given no credit for the losses paid by its captive reinsurer. 

The $109.2 million represents $72.8 million ceded by United Guaranty, $34.2 
million from Genworth, $1.1 million from CMG and $0.96 million from Radian. 

The fine was the CFPB’s largest “disgorgement” to date, according to a 
spokesman for the regulator. Cordray also decided not to assess a civil money 
penalty against PHH. 
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PHH disputed the bureau’s charges when they were first made and remained 
adamant in its defense. The company filed an appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals in 
June 2015, marking the first appeal of a CFPB administrative proceeding. 

“We strongly disagree with the decision of the director,” said Dico Akseraylian, 
a senior vice president with PHH. “We believe this decision is inconsistent with the 
facts and is not in accord with well-settled legal principles and interpretations.” 

“We continue to believe we complied with RESPA and other laws applicable to 
our mortgage reinsurance activities,” he continued. “The company did not provide 
reinsurance on loans originated after 2009. While there can be no assurances as to 
the final outcome of our appeal, we believe our appeal will be successful and, as a 
result, are not adjusting our previously issued earnings guidance for this matter.” 

In 2014, PHH established a $7 million reserve to cover the matter, an amount 
that will have to be substantially increased if it loses the appeal. 

 

INITIAL ACTION BY THE APPEALS COURT 
In August 2015, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District Columbia issued a 

stay against the $109.2 million fine levied by the bureau against PHH. 

“We are gratified that a unanimous panel of the D.C. Circuit found that PHH 
satisfied the stringent requirements for a stay pending appeal – requirements that 
include a likelihood of success on the merits,” PHH said. 

When PHH requested the stay, the lender argued that Cordray’s decision was a 
sweeping new construction of RESPA that contradicted nearly two decades of 
precedent and will likely be overturned. 

“Even if [Cordray’s] interpretations were permissible readings of the statute, 
which they are not, they most certainly cannot be applied retroactively to punish 
conduct undertaken by petitioners based on explicit agency advice expressly 
approving that conduct,” the company said, alluding to previous guidance from the 
Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

PHH also noted that the due process clause of the U.S. Constitution prohibits the 
government from retroactively imposing “punishment based on conduct that, at the 
time it was undertaken, was recognized as lawful. ... Principles of fair notice alone 
require vacating the [director’s] decision and order.” 

PHH added that Cordray’s interpretations of RESPA can’t be squared with the 
text of the statute and would gut its purpose. Further, “Even if Sections 8(a) or 
8(c)(2) were ambiguous, those provisions must be interpreted in petitioners’ favor.” 

The company also argued that Cordray erred in concluding that administrative 
enforcement actions under RESPA are not subject to any statute-of-limitations 
period. 
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PHH further asserted that the sanctions imposed by Cordray exceed the bureau’s 
statutory authority and are otherwise invalid, and that the CFPB violates the 
constitutional separation of powers. 

PHH said the balance of hardships and the public interest heavily favored a stay. 

In arguing against a stay, the CFPB said PHH hadn’t shown that it was likely to 
succeed in the appeal. 

 

SUPPORT FOR PHH FROM THE CMC 
In October 2015, the Consumer Mortgage Coalition, a trade group representing 

national mortgage lenders, servicers and service providers, filed an amicus brief in 
support of PHH. 

The CMC said the CFPB’s decision to ignore more than 40 years of established 
interpretation of RESPA’s anti-kickback provision would deprive consumers of the 
benefits of risk retention and do them further harm. 

The brief in support of the petitioner in PHH Corporation, et al., v. Consumer 
Financial Protection Bureau said that allowing CFPB Director Richard Cordray’s 
decision to stand would increase closing costs, make an already lengthy closing 
period longer, and make the mortgage origination process more confusing for 
borrowers and lenders. 

The CMC argued that Cordray’s decision weakened the mortgage reinsurance 
market and specifically harms borrowers that use mortgage insurance. They include 
first-time homebuyers, those who can only afford lower downpayments, and other 
vulnerable consumers, the group said. 

Captive mortgage reinsurance provides an additional form of risk retention that 
furthers Congress’s – and the CFPB’s – goal of protecting consumers, the CMC 
added. 

“In particular, captive mortgage reinsurance aligns lenders’ and insurers’ 
incentives by having lenders shoulder a larger portion of the burden if their loans 
fail,” the CMC said. The group noted that Atrium, the PHH captive reinsurer, paid 
$127.7 million in claims to United Guaranty Insurance Corp. and $28.6 million to 
Genworth Mortgage Insurance. 

The group said RESPA also allows lenders to develop business structures that 
align risk retention and underwriting decisions while also protecting consumers. For 
decades, RESPA Section 8 has been interpreted to permit unpaid referrals under 
clear rules, the CMC said. 

“Since the passage of RESPA in 1974, consumers have benefitted from unpaid 
referrals in a number of ways,” the group noted. “Rather than limit the information 
available to a consumer during this critical time, a real estate agent, broker or lender 
can refer the consumer to those that can help close the loan quickly and on time. So 
long as any payments are not for referrals, but are bona fide payments ‘for goods or 
services actually rendered,’ referrals are permitted.” 
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Separately, the law firm of K&L Gates noted that Cordray’s ruling holds that no 
matter what the amount of payments made for services rendered, any quid pro quo 
agreement in which one party receives business as a result of referring settlement 
service business to another party is, in the CFPB’s view, a violation of Section 8(a). 

The law firm said that interpretation of RESPA might be the CFPB’s Achilles’ 
heel in PHH’s appeal, “particularly if the court of appeals determines … [the 
defendant should be favored where there is ambiguity] and that the CFPB is 
therefore not entitled to deference in its interpretation of the statute.” 

 

REPLY BRIEF FROM CFPB 
In November 2015, the CFPB filed a brief in PHH’s appeal.  

The CFPB said PHH violated RESPA Section 8(a) because it entered into 
agreements with mortgage insurers so that whenever an insurer received a referral 
from PHH, the insurer paid PHH a kickback in the form of premiums for mortgage 
reinsurance. “PHH thus committed a separate violation every time it accepted a 
kickback payment,” the bureau said. 

“But PHH wants this court to interpret Sec. 8(a) so that its violations occurred 
not when it accepted kickback payments, but much earlier when it entered into loans 
with borrowers that might (or might not) subsequently result in kickbacks,” the 
agency added. 

Such an interpretation would land most of PHH’s violations outside of the 
bureau’s authority, but it is not what Sec. 8(a) provides, the CFPB said. “Accepting a 
kickback is an element of a Sec. 8(a) violation, and because PHH set up its scheme 
so that it received kickbacks after the loans closed, that is when it violated Sec. 8(a),” 
according to the regulator. 

The CFPB then took on PHH’s argument that Sec. 8(c)(2) is a defense to its 
conduct. “RESPA contains some exemptions, but Sec. 8(c)(2) is not among them,” 
the regulator said. 

Instead, Sec. 8(c)(2) clarifies that there is no violation of Sec. 8(a) when a party 
making referrals is paid by a party receiving referrals so long as those payments are 
for services actually performed and are not given in exchange for the referrals. 

“If, as PHH urges, Sec. 8(c)(2) permits a party to operate the sort of scheme PHH 
used and to condition referrals on the purchase of goods or services from a 
subsidiary of the party, this would flout the text, structure and goals of RESPA,” the 
CFPB continued. 

Nor does the letter from HUD on the subject shield PHH, the bureau continued. 
“That letter is neither a model of clarity, nor does it express any sort of well-settled 
interpretation of Sec. 8(c)(2),” the CFPB said. “In fact, HUD regulations explain that 
the letter is an unofficial staff interpretation that provides no protection from RESPA 
liability.” 
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The CFPB’s brief conceded that RESPA Sec. 8(c)(2) is ambiguous, but the 
regulator said Cordray’s “reasonable interpretation” of that section is entitled to 
Chevron deference, which is to say, the court should defer to the regulatory agency 
responsible for interpreting and enforcing a given statute. 

PHH argued that because RESPA may be criminally enforced, the court should 
apply the rule of lenity and interpret every ambiguity in PHH’s favor. The CFPB 
countered that when a court is interpreting a civil statute that may be criminally 
enforced, the rule of lenity is an interpretive tool of last resort. 

“Here, there is no need for the last resort, since the director’s reasonable 
interpretation has resolved Sec. 8(c)(2)’s ambiguity,” the CFPB said. 

The regulator also noted that it didn’t try to assert that all marketing services 
agreements are unlawful or illegitimate, in and of themselves. 

“Parties to illegal kickback agreements are unlikely to put those agreements into 
writing,” the CFPB said. “So those agreements may have to be identified based on 
circumstantial evidence and inference. But RESPA Section 8(c)(2) clarifies when it 
is not proper to infer an illegal agreement. Illegality cannot be inferred merely 
because a party that received referrals makes payments to a party that made the 
referrals. 

“Moreover, such an arrangement is not illegal if the payments are for services 
actually provided, and if the purchase of those services (by the party that received the 
referrals) is bona fide, i.e., in good faith, rather than a quid pro quo for referrals,” the 
bureau added. 

The CFPB also countered PHH’s claim that Cordray had “declared per se illegal” 
affiliated mortgage reinsurance. “No,” the CFPB said. “Such arrangements violate 
RESPA only if, as here, the purchase of the reinsurance is the price for receiving 
referrals.” 

The CFPB affirmed in its brief that “a party violates Sec. 8(a) when it enters a 
contract with the understanding that, in exchange, the counterparty will refer 
settlement service business, even if the fees paid under the contract are fair market 
value for the goods or services provided.” 

An industry attorney said the CFPB’s arguments could be rejected by the appeals 
court. 

“What the CFPB is saying is that Sec. 8(c)(2) would only be relevant if there 
were a question as to whether PHH had entered into an agreement to refer settlement 
services in exchange for kickbacks,” the attorney said. “That’s just wrong. That’s not 
what Sec. 8(c)(2) says. It’s as if the bureau thinks that if they just keeping saying 
something over and over again, sometimes in different ways, someone will 
eventually believe it.” 
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RESPONSE FROM PHH 
In December 2015, PHH filed a brief in response to the brief submitted by the 

CFPB. “The CFPB’s response is long on allegation and short on law,” PHH said. 

The CFPB had claimed that Section 8(c)(2) is “irrelevant.” PHH countered that 
both the statute and prior agency interpretations set a longstanding precedent that 
payments for services such as mortgage reinsurance that are actually performed and 
reasonably priced are lawful. 

“Cordray’s attempt to impose liability on PHH for past conduct based on a new, 
diametrically opposite construction of Section 8 faces a glaring and fatal problem: 
fair notice,” PHH said. “Cordray may try to shrug off the previous agency 
interpretations, but HUD, other agencies, courts, commentators, and even the ALJ 
and enforcement counsel in this proceeding all viewed them as binding.” 

The CFPB claimed that no “official agency pronouncement” misled PHH into 
believing that the lender’s activities were compliant with RESPA. 

“The CFPB’s argument boils down to the extraordinary assertion that the prior 
interpretations were just ‘unofficial’ enough to fool not only PHH but the entire 
industry,” PHH said. 

The lender said that if the appeals court allows the CFPB’s actions involving 
RESPA to stand, the “bait-and-switch” would cause the practice of administrative 
law to resemble Russian Roulette. 

PHH said the CFPB isn’t allowed to discard well-settled interpretations at will or 
to apply new interpretations retroactively. The lender added that due process bars an 
agency from punishing activity undertaken in reliance on its own official 
interpretation. 

PHH added that Cordray’s “novel constructions of RESPA” are unlawful. 

The lender said Cordray essentially eliminated Section 8(c)(2), creating 
staggering liability under Section 8(a), and untethered administrative enforcement 
from any time limitations. “That outcome cannot be squared with the statutory text 
or Congress’s obvious intent to allow compensation for legitimate services,” the 
company said. 

The lender added that because Section 8 is a criminal prohibition, the rule of 
lenity resolves any possible ambiguity without resort to deference. “Contrary to the 
CFPB’s claim, deference is not a canon of statutory construction that applies at 
Chevron’s first step: It is a standard of review that governs the second step,” PHH 
said. 

PHH said the appeals court should vacate Cordray’s actions “in light of these 
grave and numerous legal errors.” 
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OUTLOOK 
Industry observers expect the appeals court to rule on the case involving PHH 

and the CFPB sometime in 2016. As of January 2016, it was unclear how the appeals 
court would rule. 

“You just don’t know what a court is going to do with a case like this, where 
there is this much at stake, and there are nuanced arguments about statutory and 
regulatory interpretation,” said an industry attorney. 

“One thing the court could do is simply say it does not agree that this doctrine 
should apply to PHH because PHH did not have notice of this change in the 
interpretation of the law by the bureau, but it is going to say this is the law going 
forward,” he said. “So PHH could win but the case could be a disaster for the 
industry.” 

An industry lobbyist said this case is likely to make it to the U.S. Supreme Court. 
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1 CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau

1700 G Street NW, Washington, DC 20552 
 

CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2015-05 

Date:   October 8, 2015 
Subject:   RESPA Compliance and Marketing Services Agreements 
 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB or the Bureau) issues this compliance bulletin 
to remind participants in the mortgage industry of the prohibition on kickbacks and referral fees 
under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA) (12 U.S.C. 2601, et seq.) and describe 
the substantial risks posed by entering into marketing services agreements (MSAs).1 The Bureau 
has received numerous inquiries and whistleblower tips from industry participants describing the 
harm that can stem from the use of MSAs, but has not received similar input suggesting the use of 
those agreements benefits either consumers or industry. Based on the Bureau’s investigative 
efforts, it appears that many MSAs are designed to evade RESPA’s prohibition on the payment and 
acceptance of kickbacks and referral fees. This bulletin provides an overview of RESPA’s 
prohibitions against kickbacks and unearned fees and general information on MSAs, describes 
examples of market behavior gleaned from CFPB’s enforcement experience in this area, and 
describes the legal and compliance risks we have observed from such arrangements. 
 
Overview of RESPA and Marketing Services Agreements 
 
Congress enacted RESPA in 1974 as a response to abuses in the real estate settlement process. 
Thus, a primary purpose of RESPA is to “eliminat[e] … kickbacks or referral fees that tend to 
increase unnecessarily the costs of settlement services.” 12 U.S.C. 2601(b)(2).  The statute, which 
has both civil and criminal penalties, covers myriad settlement services, including “any service 
provided in connection with a real estate settlement,” such as title searches, examinations, and 
insurance; services rendered by an attorney; document preparation; property surveys; rendering 
of credit reports or appraisals; inspections; services rendered by a real estate agent or broker; and 

                                                        

1 Regulation X, which implements RESPA, is codified at 12 C.F.R. Part 1024.  
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loan origination, processing, and underwriting. 12 U.S.C. 2602(3), 12 U.S.C. 2607(d) (penalty 
provision); see also 12 C.F.R. 1024.2(b). 
 
Section 8(a) of RESPA prohibits the giving and accepting of “any fee, kickback or thing of value 
pursuant to any agreement or understanding, oral or otherwise, that business incident to or a part 
of a real estate settlement service involving a federally related mortgage loan shall be referred to 
any person.” 12 U.S.C. 2607(a); see also 12 C.F.R. 1024.14(b). Section 8(c)(2) states that “[n]othing 
in this section shall be construed as prohibiting . . . the payment to any person of a bona fide salary 
or compensation or other payment for goods or facilities actually furnished or for services actually 
performed.” 12 U.S.C. 2607(c)(2); see also 12 C.F.R. 1024.14(g). 
 
MSAs often involve providers of settlement services in a mortgage loan transaction, such as a 
lender, real estate agent or broker, or a title company.2 They may also involve third parties who are 
not settlement services providers, such as membership organizations. MSAs are usually framed as 
payments for advertising or promotional services, but in some cases the payments are actually 
disguised compensation for referrals.  
 
Bureau Experience 
 
In the Bureau’s experience, determining whether an MSA violates RESPA requires a review of the 
facts and circumstances surrounding the creation of each agreement and its implementation. The 
nature of this fact-intensive inquiry means that, while some guidance may be found in the 
Bureau’s previous public actions, the outcome of one matter is not necessarily dispositive to the 
outcome of another. Nevertheless, any agreement that entails exchanging a thing of value for 
referrals of settlement service business involving a federally related mortgage loan likely violates 
RESPA, whether or not an MSA or some related arrangement is part of the transaction. 
 
The Bureau’s Office of Enforcement has identified violations of RESPA Section 8(a) in the course 
of its investigations, including investigations that involved the use of oral or written MSAs. In 
addition, the Bureau has received numerous examples of MSAs from industry whistleblowers that, 
upon initial review, appear to use MSAs to disguise kickbacks and referral fees. In the course of 

                                                        

2 HUD issued an interpretive rule addressing the issue of real estate brokers or agents providing marketing services for 
home warranty companies. See Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA): Home Warranty Companies’ 
Payments to Real Estate Brokers and Agents, 75 FR 36271 (June 25, 2010); 75 FR 74620 (Dec. 1, 2010) (response to 
public comments). 
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one investigation resulting in an enforcement action that specifically involved MSAs, the Bureau 
observed a title insurance company entering MSAs as a quid pro quo for the referral of business. 
The fees paid under the agreements were based, in part, on how many referrals the title insurance 
company received and the revenue generated by those referrals. From its investigation of the 
underlying facts, the Bureau found that the number of referrals increased significantly when MSAs 
existed, and the differences in referrals were statistically significant and not explained by seasonal 
or year-to-year fluctuations.  
 
Impermissible actions that some MSAs attempt to disguise, such as the steering of business in 
connection with kickbacks and referral fees, may result in consumers paying higher prices for 
mortgages than would likely be the case without disguised kickback or referral fees. These 
practices also tend to indirectly undermine consumers’ ability to shop for mortgages, which can 
raise costs for consumers. In terms of thwarting shopping, one investigation that ended with an 
enforcement action revealed that consumers’ ability to shop was hindered when a settlement 
service provider buried the disclosure that consumers can shop for settlement services in a 
description of the services that its affiliate provided. See 12 U.S.C. 2607(c)(4); 12 C.F.R. 
1024.15(b)(1). In another instance that also resulted in an enforcement action, a settlement service 
provider did not disclose its affiliate relationship with an appraisal management company and did 
not tell consumers that they had the option of shopping for services before directing them to the 
affiliate. The steering incentives that are inherent in many MSAs are clear enough to create 
tangible legal and regulatory risks for the monitoring and administration of such agreements. 
 
The Bureau has also seen cases where companies fail to provide some or all of the services 
required under their agreements. In the course of investigations that have led to enforcement 
actions, the Bureau has found many examples of settlement service providers keeping payments 
received from other providers without actually performing any contractually-obligated services. 
They include instances of not performing underwriting, processing, and closing services; not 
executing title insurance work; not carrying out marketing services; and not delivering financing 
to fund the origination of loans. When services promised under an MSA are not performed, but 
payments are being made, a reasonable inference can be drawn that the MSA is part of an 
agreement to refer settlement services business in exchange for kickbacks. 
 
Illegal kickbacks and referral fees, including those disguised by MSAs, present compliance risks 
not just for the individuals who are directly involved in the impermissible conduct, but also for the 
companies that employ them. As an example of such liability, in another matter that resulted in an 
enforcement action, a title company entered into unwritten agreements with individual loan 
officers in which it paid for the referrals by defraying the loan officers’ marketing expenses. The 
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title company supplied loan officers with valuable lead information and marketing materials. In 
exchange, the loan officers sent referrals to the title company. The lenders did not detect these 
RESPA violations and/or correct or prevent them, even when they had reason to know that the 
title company was defraying the marketing expenses of the lenders and their loan officers. 
 
Other circumstances involving MSAs may also indicate broad risks of noncompliance with RESPA. 
For example, instead of directing their advertising and promotional services toward consumers, as 
MSAs purport to contemplate, some companies that frequently enter into MSAs actually direct the 
bulk of their advertising and promotional efforts toward other settlement service providers in an 
effort to establish more MSAs. Certain other companies use a third-party consultant to set prices 
for the services that the MSA purports to cover, but independently established market-rate 
compensation for marketing services, alone, does not suffice to ensure the legality of an MSA. 
 
As of the date of this bulletin, the Bureau has taken a significant number of public enforcement 
actions under RESPA. The payment of improper kickbacks and referral fees has been the basis of 
almost all of these actions. Resolving these matters has entailed injunctive relief including bans on 
entering MSAs or working in the mortgage industry for periods of up to five years. RESPA 
violations have cost industry participants over $75 million in penalties so far. In addition to 
corporate liability, some of these enforcement actions have required individuals in charge of 
companies that committed the violations to pay significant monetary penalties. 
 
Legal and Compliance Risks Created by Marketing Services Agreements 
 
In recent months, various mortgage industry participants have publicly announced their 
determination that the risks and complexity of designing and monitoring MSAs for RESPA 
compliance outweigh the benefits of entering the agreements. Accordingly, certain lenders have 
dissolved existing agreements and decided that they will no longer enter into MSAs. The Bureau 
encourages all mortgage industry participants to consider carefully RESPA’s requirements and 
restrictions and the adverse consequences that can follow from non-compliance. 
 
As described above, the Bureau has found that many MSAs necessarily involve substantial legal 
and regulatory risk for the parties to the agreement, risks that are greater and less capable of being 
controlled by careful monitoring than mortgage industry participants may have recognized in the 
past. MSAs appear to create opportunities for parties to pay or accept illegal compensation for 
making referrals of settlement service business. The Bureau also found that efforts made to 
adequately monitor activities that in turn are performed by a wide range of individuals pursuant to 
MSAs are inherently difficult. Especially in view of the strong financial incentives and pressures 
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that exist in the mortgage and settlement service markets, the risk of behaviors that may violate 
RESPA are likely to remain significant. That can be true even where the terms of the MSA have 
been carefully drafted to be technically compliant with the provisions of RESPA. 
 
In sum, the Bureau’s experience in this area gives rise to grave concerns about the use of MSAs in 
ways that evade the requirements of RESPA. In consequence, the Bureau reiterates that a more 
careful consideration of legal and compliance risk arising from MSAs would be in order for 
mortgage industry participants generally. This review is especially warranted insofar as 
whistleblower complaints about MSAs that violate RESPA have been increasing. The Bureau 
intends to continue actively scrutinizing the use of such agreements and related arrangements in 
the course of its enforcement and supervision work. Any industry participant that suspects 
unlawful activity by others or that wishes to self-report its own conduct that may have violated 
RESPA is encouraged to contact the CFPB. Self-reporting and cooperation, consistent with the 
Responsible Business Conduct bulletin, CFPB Bulletin 2013-06, will be taken into account in 
resolving such matters.3  
 
Regulatory Requirements 
 
This compliance bulletin summarizes existing requirements under the law as well as findings and 
conclusions the Bureau has made in exercising its enforcement authority. The bulletin is a non-
binding general statement of policy articulating considerations relevant to the Bureau’s exercise of 
its supervisory and enforcement authority. It is therefore exempt from the notice and comment 
rulemaking requirements under the Administrative Procedure Act, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 553(b). 
Because no notice of proposed rulemaking is required, the Regulatory Flexibility Act does not 
require an initial or final regulatory flexibility analysis.4 The Bureau has determined that this 
compliance bulletin does not impose any new or revise any existing recordkeeping, reporting, or 
disclosure requirements on covered entities or members of the public that would be collections of 
information requiring OMB approval under the Paperwork Reduction Act.5 

                                                        

3 See CFPB Bulletin 2013-06, Responsible Business Conduct:  Self-Policing, Self-Reporting, Remediation, and 
Cooperation (June 25, 2013), available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_bulletin_responsible-
conduct.pdf. 

4 5 U.S.C. 603(a), 604(a).   

5 44 U.S.C. 3501, et seq. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRA TNE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2014-CFPB-0002 

In the Matter of 

PHH CORPORATION, 
PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION, 
PHH HOME LOANS LLC, 
ATRIUM INSURANCE CORPORATION, and 
ATRIUM REINSURANCE CORPORATION 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

FINAL ORDER 

For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

I. "Respondents" means PHH Corporation, PHH Mortgage Corporation, PHH Home 
Loans LLC, Atrium Insurance Corporation, and Atrium Reinsurance Corporation. 

2. The term "settlement service" has the meaning given in 12 U.S.C. § 2602(3) and in 
12 C.F.R. § 1024.2. 

3. The term "referral" has the meaning given in 12 C.F.R. § 1024.14(t). 

4. The term "thing of value" has the meaning given in 12 U.S.C. § 2602(2) and in 12 
C.F.R. § 1024.14(d). 

I. 

IT IS ORDERED that Respondents, their successors and assigns, and their officers, agents, 
representatives, and employees, directly or through any corporation, subsidiary, division, or other 
device, in connection with the referral of any borrower to a provider of mortgage insurance, shall 
CEASE AND DESIST from violating section 8 of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 
USC§ 2607(a). 

II. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondents, their successors and assigns, and their 
officers, agents, representatives, and employees, directly or through any corporation, subsidiary, 
division, or other device, shall CEASE AND DESIST, for a period of 15 years, from entering into 
any captive reinsurance agreement. 
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III. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondents, their successors and assigns, and their 
officers, agents, representatives, and employees, directly or through any corporation, subsidiary, 
division, or other device, shall CEASE AND DESIST, for a period of 15 years, from referring any 
borrower to any provider of a real estate settlement service if that provider has agreed to purchase or 
pay for any service from any of the Respondents, and the provider' s purchase of or payment for that 
service is triggered by those referrals. 

IV. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondents, their successors and assigns, and their 
officers, agents, representatives, and employees, directly or through any corporation, subsidiary, 
division, or other device, shall maintain records of all things of value that any respondent receives 
or has received from any real estate settlement service provider to which any Respondent has 
referred borrowers since July 21 , 2008, and for the next 15 years. This requirement applies to any 
thing of value that the Respondent receives or has received within 24 months of the referral. 
Respondents must maintain these records for five years after receipt of the thing of value, and must 
make them available to the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau upon request. 

v. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondents PHH Corporation, PHH Mortgage 
Corporation, PHH Home Loans LLC, Atrium Insurance Corporation, and Atrium Reinsurance 
Corporation shall pay disgorgement to the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau in the amount of 
$109,188,618. Within 30 days of this order, they shall pay this amount in the form of a wire 
transfer as instructed by counsel for the Bureau. However, if any of the Respondents appeals this 
decision pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), Respondents may, within 30 days after service of this 
order, pay the disgorgement into an escrow account in lieu of making the payment to the Bureau. 
The escrow account shall be held by an entity that is chosen by Respondents and is acceptable to the 
Bureau. The escrow account shall be established so that if all or any portion of the disgorgement 
award is upheld on appeal, that amount shall be released to the Bureau within 30 days after the 
mandate issues on that appellate decision. Once the mandate has issued and the Bureau has 
received the portion of the disgorgement award to which it is entitled, any funds remaining in 
escrow shall be released to Respondents. 

SO ORDERED the _lf...A_ day of June, 2015. 

~r(f4ry 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2014-CFPB

In the Matter of: 

Lighthouse Title, Inc., 
Respondent. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau") has reviewed the practices 

of Lighthouse Title, Inc. ("Respondent") regarding the use of marketing services 

agreements, and has identified violations of Section 8(a) of the Real Estate Settlement 

Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2607, and its implementing regulation, Regulation X, 

12 C.F.R. Part 1024 (formerly codified at 24 C.F.R. Part 3500) (collectively, "RESPA"): 

Respondent entered the marketing services agreements as quid pro quos for the referral 

of business, and Respondent paid fees undet: the agreements that were set based on the 

amount of business that the other party had referred or that Respondent anticipated 

would be referred in the future. The Bureau issues this Consent Order ("Order") under 

Sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("CFPA"), 

12 u.s.c. §§ 5563, 5565. 
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I 

JURISDICTION 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 
STIPULATION 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated September 24, 2014 ("Stipulation"), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 

1055 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any 

findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 

DEFINITIONS 

3. The following definitions shall apply to this Order: 

a. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

b. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegee. 

c. For purposes of paragraphs 27 and 28, "Marketing Services Agreement" and 

"MSA" mean an agreement pursuant to which Respondent is to provide any 

2 
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Thing of Value to a person in a position to refer business incident to or a part 

of a real estate settlement service involving a federally related mortgage loan 

in exchange for marketing or advertising services. This includes agreements 

that allow Respondent to market or promote Respondent's services to such a 

person or its employees or agents, agreements that require a person or its 

employees or agents to endorse Respondent or Respondent's services, 

agreements pursuant to which such a person is to market Respondent's 

services to others, and agreements to include references to Respondent in any 

advertising placed by such a person. An agreement for mass advertising for 

consumer consumption pursuant to which Respondent is to pay a person who 

does not provide real estate settlement services to place an advertisement to 

the public (e.g., an agreement to place an advertisement in a newspaper or 

magazine or on a television or radio station) is not a marketing services 

agreement unless the person endorses Respondent as part of the 

advertisement. 

d. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers, or an enforcement action by another governmental entity, 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Order. 

e. "Respondent" means Lighthouse Title, Inc., and its successors and assigns. 

f. "Thing ofValue" means any payment, advance, funds, loan, service, or other 

consideration, including, without limitation, monies, things, discounts, 

salaries, commissions, fees, duplicate payments of a charge, stock, dividends, 

distribution of partnership profits, franchise royalties, credits representing 

3 
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monies that may be paid at a future date, the opportunity to participate in a 

money-making program, retained or increased earnings, increased equity in a 

parent or subsidiary entity, special bank deposits or accounts, special or 

unusual banking terms, services of all types at special or free rates, sales or 

rentals at special prices or rates, lease or rental payments based in whole or in 

part on the amount of business referred, trips and payments of another 

person's expenses, or reduction in credit against an existing obligation. 

IV 

BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a title insurance agency located in Holland, Michigan, that, among 

other activities, provides settlement services for federally related mortgage loans in 

Michigan. 

s. RESPA Section 8(a) provides, "No person shall give and no person shall accept any 

fee, kickback, or thing of value pursuant to any agreement or understanding, oral or 

otherwise, that business incident to or a part of a real estate settlement service 

involving a federally related mortgage loan shall be referred to any person." 

12 U.S.C. § 2607(a). 

6. Repeated payments "connected in any way with the volume or value ofthe business 

referred . . . [are] evidence that [the payments are] made pursuant to an agreement 

or understanding for the referral of business." 12 C.F.R. § 1024.14(e). 

7. "If the payment of a thing of value bears no reasonable relationship to the market 

value of the goods or services provided, then the excess is not for services or goods 

4 
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actually performed or provided. These facts may be used as evidence of a violation of 

Section 8 ... . " 12 C.F.R. § 1024.14(g)(2). 

8. A fair market value for goods or services is based only on the value of the goods or 

services in and of themselves and cannot include any consideration of the value of 

any referrals of business incident to or a part of real estate settlement services 

related to federally related mortgage loans. Id. 

9· RESPA Section 8(c)(2) provides an exemption for "payment[s] to any person of a 

bona fide salary or compensation or other payment for goods or facilities actually 

furnished or for services actually performed." 12 U.S.C. § 2607(c)(2); see also 

12 C.F.R. § 1024.14(g)(1)(iv). 

10. Payments to non-employees for referrals are prohibited by Section 8(a) and cannot 

be bona fide payments for goods actually furnished or services actually performed. 

12 U.S.C. § 2607(a); 12 C.F.R. § 1024.14(b) ("A company may not pay any other 

company or the employees of any other company for the referral of settlement 

service business."). 

Findings and Conclusions Related to Respondent's Use of Marketing 
Services Agreements 

11. Since May 2009, Respondent entered a series of Marketing Services Agreements 

("MSAs") with various counterparties for the provision of marketing and advertising 

services. 

12. Respondent entered and renewed these MSAs with the agreement or understanding 

that in return the counterparties would refer closings and title insurance business 

related to federally related mortgage loans to Respondent. 

5 
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13. Respondent believed that if it did not enter MSAs with these counterparties that the 

counterparties would refer their business to other companies. 

14. Respondent did not determine a fair market value for the services it allegedly 

received pursuant to the MSAs. 

15. Respondent did not document how it determined the fair market value for the 

specific services allegedly received under the MSAs. 

16. Respondent set the fees to be paid pursuant to the MSAs, in part, by considering how 

many referrals it had received from the counterparties and the revenue generated by 

those referrals. 

17. In some cases, Respondent also set the fees, in part, by considering how much 

competing title insurance companies were v.rilling to pay those same counterparties 

for marketing and advertising services. 

18. Respondent did not diligently monitor its counterparties to ensure that it received 

the services for which it contracted. 

19. The counterparties referred significantly more transactions to Respondent when 

they had MSAs with Respondent than when they did not. The differences are 

statistically significant and are not explained by seasonal or year-to-year 

fluctuations. 

20. Entering a contract is a "thing of value" within the meaning of Section 8, even if the 

fees paid under that contract are fair market value for the goods or services provided. 

21. Entering a contract with the agreement or understanding that in exchange the 

counterparty will refer settlement services related to federally related mortgage loans 

violates Section 8(a). 

6 

Copyright © 2016 Inside Mortgage Finance Publications (301) 951-1240 
Forwarding or photocopying this document is a copyright violation.

Page 110



22. In addition, marketing fees set by considering the amount of business received from 

the counterparty are connected v.rith the volume or value of the business referred, 

and therefore are evidence that the payments are made pursuant to an agreement or 

understanding for the referral of business. 

23. The fees that Respondent paid were not a fair market value for the services for which 

Respondent contracted. 

24. Thus, Respondent violated Section 8(a) by entering contracts-the Marketing 

Services Agreements-v.rith the agreement or understanding that in exchange the 

counterparties would refer closings and title insurance business related to federally 

related mortgage loans to Respondent and by paying counterparties to those 

contracts fees v.rith the agreement or understanding that in exchange the 

counterparties would refer closings and title insurance business related to federally 

related mortgage loans to Respondent. 

v 

Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

25. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, and employees, who have actual notice 

of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, must not violate Section 

8 ofRESPA. 

26. Respondent must document all exchanges of things of value worth more than $s.oo 

v.rith persons in a position to refer business incident to or part of a real estate 

settlement service involving a federally related mortgage loan, including a 

description of all things of value exchanged and the reasons for the exchange, must 

7 
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maintain such documentation for five years after the exchange, and must produce 

such documentation to the Bureau promptly upon request. 

27. Respondent must terminate immediately any and all Marketing Services Agreements 

currently in effect. 

28. Respondent must not enter into Marketing Services Agreements. 

VI 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

29. Under Section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c), by reason of the violations of 

law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$2oo,ooo to the Bureau. 

30. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty 

by ·wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the 

Bureau's wiring instructions. 

31. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order v.rill be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 

12 u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

32. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

8 
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b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

33. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer 

Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may 

Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in 

the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action 

(Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty 

Offset, Respondent must, "'rithin 30 days after entry of a final order granting the 

Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the 

U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money 

penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this 

action. 

VII 

Order Related to Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

34. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under this 

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, "'rill accrue 

on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and "'rill immediately become due and payable. 

35. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 
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36. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to 

the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

37. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to 

consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

VIII 

Order Related to Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

38. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; 

the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a 

change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent must provide this notice at 

least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after the learning 

about the development, whichever is sooner. 
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IX 

Order Related to Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

39. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who 

have responsibilities directly related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

40. For five (5) years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred 

to in Section VIII, and future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who 

will have responsibilities directly related to the subject matter of the Consent Order 

before they assume their responsibilities. 

41. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., ·within 30 days of delivery, 

from all board members, executive officers, managers, employees, or other agents or 

representatives of Respondent who receive a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. Respondent must request and must make diligent efforts to receive a signed 

and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring 

that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from any third parties who receive a 

copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 
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X 

Order Related to Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. Respondent must create, for at least five (5) years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance ·with each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to 

the Bureau. 

43. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 42 for at least 

five (5) years. 

44. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 42 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XI 

Order Related to Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

45. Unless othenvise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent 

Order in >vriting, with the subject line, "In re Lighthouse Title, Inc., File No. 2014-

CFPB " and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 
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b. By first-class mail to: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
AITENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

and contemporaneously by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XII 

Order Related to Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must be 

made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

47. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 

person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

48.Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lav.rful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

XIII 

Order Related to Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions oftime and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 
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so. The Enforcement Director may, in his/ her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements ofthis Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions oftime and changes 

to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

XIV 

Order Related to Administrative Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 52. 

52. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. 

The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future 

enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without 

limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This 

release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure 

compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the 

Consent Order. 

53· This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order 

issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 
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form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United 

States. 

54. This Consent Order will terminate five (5) years from the Effective Date or five (5) 

years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been 

filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, 

except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

55· Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

56. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal 

jurisdiction over Respondent. 

57· This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, 

or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the 
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accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation 

supersede any prior oral or ·written communications, discussions, or understandings. 
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58. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing the Respondent, its officers, or its employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this ~th day of September, 2014. 

ru~y~ 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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